# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/12/2019 9:30 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>97324-5</u>

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

-----

No. 76463-2-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LIVING ESSENTIALS, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, and INNOVATION VENTURES, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company,

Petitioners.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joel A. Mullin, OR St. Bar No.862533 (admitted *pro hac vice* in COA) Reilley D. Keating, WSBA No. 46415 STOEL RIVES, LLP 760 SW Ninth Avenue, Suite 3000 Portland, Oregon 97205-2584

Telephone: (503) 224-3380

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Living Essentials, LLC, and Innovation Ventures, LLC (collectively, "Living Essentials").

#### II. DECISION BELOW

Living Essentials seeks review of the decision issued by Division One of the Court of Appeals on March 18, 2019 (Appendix A). The Court of Appeals denied Living Essentials' timely motion for reconsideration on May 13, 2019 (Appendix B).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

#### A. Per Se Violations of the Consumer Protection Act

Did the courts below violate the rule of *Hangman Ridge*<sup>1</sup> by creating a new *per se* violation of the Consumer Protection Act (CPA) or, alternatively, did the courts import an FTC standard that is both (1) inconsistent with the CPA and (2) incorrect, even under federal law?

#### B. Freedom of Speech

- 1. Is a ban on product claims lacking "adequate substantiation" a prior restraint that violates article I, section 5, of the Washington Constitution or the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution?
- 2. Does punishing an advertiser for making a product claim that is not substantiated by "competent and reliable scientific evidence" violate the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment or the First Amendment because that phrase is unconstitutionally vague?
- 3. Does a requirement that an advertiser prove that its product claim is adequately substantiated violate either article I, section 5, or the First Amendment by requiring the speaker to prove that restriction of his speech is not justified, instead of requiring the government to prove that its speech restriction is justified?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 719 P.2d 531 (1986).

- 4. The free-speech guarantees of the Oregon and Pennsylvania Constitutions are identical to article I, section 5, in that they explicitly guarantee the right to "speak freely...on all subjects." Courts in those states have held that because the "all subjects" clause treats all speech equally, commercial speech has the same degree of protection as speech on any other subject, and restrictions on commercial speech are thus subject to strict scrutiny. Does article I, section 5, compel the same result and, if so, does the adequate-substantiation doctrine fail strict scrutiny?
- 5. Is heightened scrutiny required under the First Amendment because the adequate-substantiation doctrine is not content neutral?
- 6. Where no consumers have complained that an advertiser's product claim is deceptive or misleading, does a governmental prohibition on making that claim fail to meet the *Central Hudson* test for commercial-speech restrictions under the First Amendment?

#### C. Insufficient Basis to Find a Deceptive Net Impression

May a court find that an advertisement gives consumers a deceptive net impression absent any empirical evidence of consumer confusion?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Living Essentials, the maker of 5-hour ENERGY®, made advertising claims about its products, including the "Vitamins," "Superior to Coffee," "Decaf," and "Ask Your Doctor" claims. Slip Op. at 2; CP 8069-79. The State sued, alleging that these claims violated the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), chapter 19.86 RCW. At the close of its case in chief, the State *abandoned* its contentions that the "Vitamins," "Superior to Coffee," and "Decaf" claims were false. RP 1018-20. The State instead premised its case as to those claims solely on the contention that they lacked any reasonable basis and were thus not "adequately substantiated." *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> By referring to the claims using the labels employed by the trial court, Living Essentials does not concede that those labels reflect the takeaway of each ad.

The trial court found that the "Vitamins" claim—the principal focus of the State's case—was adequately substantiated. CP 8103. It found that the "Superior to Coffee" claim was "certainly plausible, given the science presented to the Court, but...remains a hypothesis, not an established scientific fact." *Slip Op.* at 3; CP 8106. As to the "Decaf claim" the court found that "Living Essentials lacked competent and reliable scientific evidence to claim that Decaf 5-Hour ENERGY® will generate energy and alertness that 'lasts for hours." *Slip Op.* at 3; CP 8107. Finally, the court found that the "Ask Your Doctor" claim was "literally true, [but] the impression left by the ads was not." *Slip Op.* at 4; CP 8109. Finding that Living Essentials violated the CPA, the court entered an injunction banning the ads and imposed over \$2.1 million in civil penalties, plus fees and costs totaling nearly that same amount. *Slip Op.* at 4. Despite concluding that the trial court applied an incorrect legal standard reserved for "health" claims, *Slip Op.* at 20, the Court of Appeals affirmed.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

#### A. Per Se Violations of the Consumer Protection Act

1. The Court of Appeals' recognition of lack of adequate substantiation as a deceptive act or practice constitutes the judicial establishment of a *per se* CPA violation, which conflicts with this Court's holding in *Hangman Ridge* that only the Legislature may establish *per se* violations.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that the trial court's determination that the "Superior to Coffee" and "Decaf" claims violated the CPA could not be upheld based on a lack of adequate substantiation *prior* 

to making advertising claims. Slip Op. at 11. The court agreed that this would constitute judicial establishment of a new form of per se CPA violation and that only the Legislature may establish per se violations. Id. at 9-11 (citing Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 787, 719 P.2d 531 (1986)). The court nonetheless upheld the trial court's "Superior to Coffee" and "Decaf" determinations by concluding that the trial court "specifically declined to rely only on prior substantiation." Id. at 11.

This distinction fails to avoid the problem. For a court to deem lack of either pre- or post-claim substantiation to violate the CPA amounts to establishing a new *per se* violation; in either case, the State is relieved of having to prove a defendant's claim is false or misleading, to prove it is deceptive. The State abandoned its contention that the "Superior to Coffee" and "Decaf" claims were false or misleading. RP 1018-20. Nevertheless, it argued that these claims were deceptive because Living Essentials failed to substantiate them. But the CPA does not say that an advertising claim is deceptive or misleading when the advertiser lacks adequate substantiation.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision imports into Washington CPA law a concept derived from decisions under the Federal Trade Commission Act that is inconsistent with the CPA's structure.

As authority for its holding, the Court of Appeals invoked the Legislature's mandate that the CPA should be interpreted consistent with how the federal courts interpret the FTC Act. *Slip Op.* at 7-8. But this statutory mandate is not absolute. *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 166

Wn.2d 27, 47, 204 P.3d 885 (2009). The Court of Appeals did not address the extensive body of law from other states that have adopted "Little FTC" acts, *all* of which have rejected incorporating federal substantiation concepts. *Hughes v. Ester C Co.*, 930 F. Supp. 2d 439, 456-59 (E.D.N.Y. 2013) (surveying the law of multiple states and concluding that, under state "Little FTC" acts, the "allegation that a given statement is unsubstantiated or unsupported by scientific evidence, standing alone, will not be enough for purposes of showing a deceptive or fraudulent representation," and thus refusing to allow a claim for lack of adequate substantiation under New York's "Little FTC" act); *Gredell v. Wyeth Labs, Inc.*, 367 Ill. App. 3d 287, 854 N.E.2d 752, 756 (2006).<sup>3</sup>

The federal substantiation requirement reflects the structure of the FTC Act, which entrusts to an administrative agency (the Federal Trade Commission) the responsibility to develop expertise in the field of deceptive trade practices and the exclusive authority to enforce Congress's prohibition on such practices. The FTC adopted the concept of adequate substantiation in 1972, and federal courts historically have deferred to an FTC finding of inadequate substantiation because of the agency's recognized expertise. *See, e.g., Bristol-Myers Co. v. F.T.C.*, 738 F.2d 554 (2d Cir. 1984). Unlike the FTC, the Washington attorney-general's office is not an administrative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The California legislature has granted the state attorney general (but not private plaintiffs) authority to demand proof of the factual basis for advertising claims. CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE § 17508(b); *Nat'l Council against Health Fraud, Inc. v. King Bio Pharms., Inc.*, 107 Cal. App. 4th 1336, 133 Cal. Rptr. 2d 207, 214 (2003). But in an enforcement action, the State still must prove the claim is false or misleading. *Id.* at 214-16; CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE 17508(f). This is as far as any state, including Washington, has gone to incorporate federal substantiation concepts into its consumer-protection law.

agency, and its views on deceptive advertising are entitled to no special weight in a judicial proceeding. When the Washington Legislature adopted our state's Little FTC Act, it did not establish an agency comparable to the FTC. Instead, the Legislature empowered private parties and the attorney general to bring actions to enforce the CPA's bar against deceptive acts or practices. RCW 19.86.080, .090.

A CPA plaintiff—whether a private party or the attorney general—must show that the alleged deceptive act or practice affects the public interest.<sup>4</sup> *Hangman Ridge*, 105 Wn.2d at 787-92. That burden can be satisfied if the act or practice is a per se CPA violation. *Id.* at 791-92. But again, only the Legislature has the power to establish a per se violation. *Id.* at 787, 791-92. And the Legislature has not declared that making an advertising claim without having "adequate" substantiation for that claim is a per se violation. Without such a legislative declaration, a court may not presume to find on its own that what it considers to be a lack of adequate substantiation—for an advertising claim that has not been shown to be false or misleading—violates the CPA. Yet that is precisely what the trial court did here. The Court of Appeals' affirmance of those determinations conflicts with *Hangman Ridge* and involves an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In *Hangman*, this Court was asked to reconsider its public-interest-showing requirement on the grounds that it represented a minority and overly restrictive gloss on the scope of actions that could be brought for a violation of the CPA's prohibition on deceptive acts or practices. This Court expressly refused to do so and reaffirmed the requirement. The State in this case has never suggested that the requirement—which the Legislature has left undisturbed for over 30 years—should be reconsidered.

3. Even assuming lack of adequate substantiation can be a proper basis for finding a CPA violation, the Court of Appeals adopted a legally untenable basis for upholding the trial court's finding of lack of adequate substantiation in this case. The proper test for finding inadequate substantiation is a matter of substantial public interest warranting review.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court erred in ruling that the "Superior to Coffee" and "Decaf" claims should be subject to the FTC substantiation standard for "health" claims. *Slip Op.* at 18-20. In reviewing the evidence, the trial court did not find a total lack of substantiation for Living Essentials' claims. Rather, the court found that the "Superior to Coffee" claim was "certainly plausible, given the science presented to the Court[.]" CP 8106 (FF 19(i)). The trial court also acknowledged the testimony of Dr. Howard Beales, Living Essentials' FTC expert, who pointed out that the FTC requires only *de minimus* substantiation for products that pose no safety risk, are inexpensive, and whose claims are easily verifiable by consumers. CP 8105 (FF 19(g)). The trial court rejected applying such a *de minimus* test only because it concluded Living Essentials made health claims, which are subject to more demanding substantiation requirements under federal law. *See* CP 8105 (FF 19(g)).

Although the Court of Appeals concluded that the trial court erred in finding that Living Essentials had made health claims, the court nonetheless found that Living Essentials lacked a reasonable basis for the claims. *Slip Op.* at 20-22. But that is not the proper inquiry on appeal where, as here, the trial court did not find a total lack of substantiation but

instead found that the substantiation failed to satisfy an inapplicable standard. There is no basis in the trial court's findings for concluding anything other than, if Living Essentials did not make health claims—and it did not—then its "Superior to Coffee" and "Decaf" claims were adequately substantiated.

The trial court found that the takeaway of the "Superior to Coffee" claim was that the vitamins and nutrients in 5-hour ENERGY® "work synergistically to make the biochemical or physiological effects last longer than caffeine alone" and that the takeaway of the "Decaf" claim was that consuming decaf 5-hour ENERGY® provided the benefits of energy, alertness, and focus without what some find to be caffeine's annoying buzz. See CP 8071-74 (FF 10, 11). A single shot of these products costs no more than a latte at a coffee shop, and someone who buys and consumes a shot of 5-hour ENERGY® (regular or decaf) will readily determine whether it performs as promised. If it does not, the consumer is out only the price of a latte; there is no safety risk in consuming 5-hour ENERGY®. If regular and decaf 5-hour ENERGY® were not performing as promised, people would not buy the product. But they do buy it, and that fact is all the substantiation that should be required, if any is to be required, for no-risk, inexpensive, and consumer-testable products such as these.

In sum, even assuming that the trial court properly subjected Living Essentials' "Superior to Coffee" and "Decaf" claims to a substantiation inquiry, the trial court's findings do not provide a proper basis for affirming the conclusion that the "Superior to Coffee" and "Decaf" claims lacked any

reasonable basis and were thus unsubstantiated. If lack of adequate substantiation is to be recognized as a basis for finding a violation of the CPA's prohibition on deceptive acts or practices, the correct test for substantiation presents an issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

#### B. Freedom of Speech

1. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Marriage of Suggs* and *Soundgarden* v. *Eikenberry* regarding prior restraints on speech.

The Court of Appeals found no freedom-of-speech concerns with banning ads and punishing a company that makes a claim about its product that is found to lack "adequate substantiation." But as this Court has recognized, prohibiting a speaker from making "unsubstantiated" accusations constitutes a prior restraint that is unconstitutional under the First Amendment. *In re Marriage of Suggs*, 152 Wn.2d 74, 84, 93 P.3d 161 (2004). A substantiation requirement deters people from speaking for fear that their speech "may ultimately be found to be invalid and unsubstantiated by a court." *Id.* This chilling effect is "intolerable in the first amendment context." *Id.* 

Although Living Essentials discussed *Suggs* and argued that the substantiation doctrine had a chilling effect on commercial speech, the Court of Appeals never mentioned the case. It is conceivable that the court believed that the constitutional rule against prior restraints has no application to commercial speech, but that rationale would conflict with *Soundgarden v. Eikenberry*, 123 Wn.2d 750, 871 P.2d 1050 (1994), where

this Court applied the rule against prior restraints to commercial speech. *Id.* at 761-68, 773. Because article I, section 5, provides greater protection against prior restraints than the First Amendment, *Bradburn v. N. Cent. Reg'l Library*, 168 Wn.2d 789, 801, 231 P.3d 166 (2010), any rule requiring "adequate substantiation" before a person could speak would necessarily violate article I, section 5, as well as the First Amendment.

# 2. The phrase "competent and reliable scientific evidence" is unconstitutionally vague.

The courts below held that Living Essentials had to prove that its advertising claims were supported by "competent and reliable scientific evidence." Relying on *Kolender v. Lawson*, 461 U.S. 352, 103 S. Ct. 1855, 75 L. Ed. 2d 903 (1983), and *Pearson v. Shalala* ("*Pearson I*"), 164 F.3d 650 (D.C. Cir. 1999), Living Essentials maintained that this phrase is unconstitutionally vague. In *Pearson I*, dietary-supplement manufacturers challenged as unconstitutionally vague the FDA's rule requiring them to show that their advertising claims were supported by "significant scientific agreement." The D.C. Circuit held it was unnecessary to decide the vagueness question only because the court agreed that it was arbitrary and capricious under the APA to reject the proposed health claims without defining the phrase "significant scientific agreement." *Id.* at 660-61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The court further suggested it was possible that an FDA standard might be sufficiently defined as to satisfy the federal Administrative Procedure Act and yet be unconstitutionally vague. *Pearson I*, 164 F.3d at 660 n.12. On remand, the district court ruled that the FDA had failed to comply with the circuit court's order and granted a preliminary injunction prohibiting the FDA from enforcing its "significant scientific agreement" rule because the manufacturers had shown a substantial likelihood that they would prevail on their claim that the rule violated the First Amendment. *Pearson v. Shalala*, 130 F. Supp. 2d 105, 112 (D.D.C. 2001).

The Court of Appeals did not discuss *Pearson I*. Instead, it relied on the fact that the "competent and reliable scientific evidence" test had been around since 1984, pointing to *Sterling Drug, Inc. v. F.T.C.*, 741 F.2d 1146 (9th Cir. 1984). The Court of Appeals held that when the federal courts have "amassed an abundance of law giving shape and definition" to a phrase, there is a sufficiently well-established meaning to survive a constitutional challenge of vagueness. *Slip Op.* at 13-14 (citing *State v. Reader's Digest Ass'n*, 81 Wn.2d 259, 274, 501 P.2d 290 (1972)). According to the Court of Appeals, "the weight of federal court decisions" concerning the meaning of the phrase "competent and reliable scientific evidence" constitutes just such an abundance of law giving shape and definition" to the phrase. *Id.* at 14.

But the Court of Appeals did not identify any of these "federal court decisions" that purportedly give "shape and definition" to this phrase. Moreover,  $Pearson\ I$  shows the exact opposite. The vagueness question is both a significant question of constitutional law and an issue of substantial public interest that warrants review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (b)(4).

3. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with several U.S. Supreme Court decisions holding that the government bears the burden of proving that a restriction on commercial speech is justified.

The decision below effectively eviscerates all First Amendment protection for commercial speech by allowing the government to penalize a company that cannot provide "adequate" scientific evidence to establish that its product claim is true, even though the government cannot prove (and

in this case abandoned any effort to prove) that the claim is false. The only constitutionally acceptable burden-of-proof rule requires the government to prove falsity.

The Court of Appeals cited three pre-1983 circuit-court decisions holding that the adequate-substantiation doctrine generally was constitutional. *Slip Op.* at 16-17.6 But since 1983, the U.S. Supreme Court has repeatedly held that "government cannot limit speech protected by the First Amendment without bearing the burden of showing that its restriction is justified." *Philadelphia Newspapers v. Hepps*, 475 U.S. 767, 777, 106 S. Ct. 1558, 89 L. Ed. 2d 783 (1986).<sup>7</sup> This Court held the same: "The party seeking to uphold a restriction on commercial speech carries the burden of justifying it." *Kitsap County v. Mattress Outlet*, 153 Wn.2d 506, 512, 104 P.3d 1280 (2005). The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with all of these decisions, all cited by Living Essentials below and all decided *after* the

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