FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/12/2019 1:06 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97324-5

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LIVING ESSENTIALS, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company and INNOVATIONS VENTURES, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company

Petitioners.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

DANIEL T. DAVIES, WSBA No. 41793 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent State of Washington 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 254-0559

### **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded that Petitioners' Advertisements Were Unfair and Deceptive Because They Lacked Reasonable Substantiation

Petitioners aired dietary supplement advertisements without any reasonable substantiation. This conduct is unfair and deceptive because:

The consumer is entitled, as a matter of marketplace fairness, to rely upon the manufacturer to have a 'reasonable basis' for making performance claims. A consumer should not be compelled to enter into an economic gamble to determine whether a product will or will not perform as represented.

In Re Pfizer Inc., 81 F.T.C. 23, 29 (1972). Because consumers rely on advertisers to have a reasonable basis for their ad claims, making claims without prior substantiation is deceptive. See POM Wonderful, 777 F.3d at 490; FTC v. John Beck Amazing Profits, 865 F. Supp. 2d 1052, 1067 (N.D. Cal. 2012) (To demonstrate a statement is likely to mislead, "the FTC must establish that . . . the advertiser lacked a reasonable basis for its claims.").

Consistent with prior federal decisions interpreting the FTC Act, the Court of Appeals agreed that Petitioners' ads were deceptive because they lacked reasonable substantiation. In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals properly followed the Legislature's intent "that, in construing [the CPA], the courts be guided by final decisions of the federal courts and final orders of the federal trade commission in interpreting the various federal statutes dealing with the same or similar matters. . . ." RCW 19.86.920.

# 1. The Court of Appeals Did Not Create a New *Per Se* CPA Violation in Determining Petitioners' Advertisements Were Unfair and Deceptive

Petitioners ask this Court to ignore RCW 19.86.920 and reject almost 50 years of federal precedent by contending that the Court of Appeals improperly created a new *per se* violation of the CPA by requiring an advertiser to have reasonable prior substantiation for their advertising claims. *See* Pet. at 3-6. Rather than create a new *per se* deceptive practice, the Court of Appeals and the trial court properly applied FTC precedent in analyzing Petitioners' advertising claims and deciding that they are unfair or deceptive. As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, the trial court also considered other evidence about Petitioners' advertising claims—along with their lack of prior substantiation—to conclude that Petitioners' ads were unfair or deceptive under the CPA. Slip op. at 11-12. The lower courts' analysis makes sense "because the [CPA] does not define 'unfair' or

'deceptive,' this Court has allowed the definitions to evolve through a 'gradual process of judicial inclusion and exclusion." Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771, 786, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013) (quotation omitted). In so holding, this Court necessarily interprets the CPA broadly and liberally because "[i]t is impossible to frame definitions which embrace all unfair practices. There is no limit to human inventiveness in this field." *Panag v.* Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 166 Wn.2d 27, 48, 204 P.3d 885 (2009). By holding that Petitioners' ads were unfair or deceptive, in part because they lacked reasonable prior substantiation, the Court of Appeals reasonably continued the "judicial inclusion" process this Court set forth in *Klem* and *Panag.* And in doing so, it did not define a new category of conduct that violates the CPA per se. See Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 786-87, 719 P.2d 531 (1986) (the Legislature, not the courts, determines a statutory violation to be a per se unfair or deceptive trade practice).

Petitioners also argue that the Court of Appeals' decision creates a *per se* public interest impact. Pet. at 6. But, as this Court has held, any unfair or deceptive advertisement can impact the public interest if it, for example, affects many consumers or has a potential for repetition. *Hangman Ridge*, at 788-89. Petitioners aired their ads thousands of times, satisfying the public interest impact element. *See id.* 790-91.

### 2. Requiring substantiation does not conflict with the CPA

Petitioners also contend that requiring substantiation conflicts with the CPA because the FTC has regulatory expertise and because other states do not have substantiation requirements. Pet. at 5. Petitioners, however, offer no argument that unsubstantiated dietary supplement ads are neither unfair nor deceptive. The CPA prohibits unfair or deceptive advertising.

Rather than provide a rationale for why unsubstantiated dietary supplement claims are not unfair or deceptive, Petitioners ask the Court to reject federal precedent because the FTC has regulatory expertise in analyzing substantiation that the State supposedly lacks. This argument ignores two basic facts: (1) courts can determine whether an ad claim is reasonably substantiated, *see John Beck Amazing Profits*, 865 F. Supp. 2d at 1067 ("the Commission *or the court* must first determine what level of substantiation the advertiser is required to have"); and (2) if credit is to be given to the FTC's expertise, the FTC already applied its expertise and concluded that lacking prior substantiation for an ad claim is unfair or deceptive. Thus, failing to have prior substantiation is an unfair or deceptive act under the CPA just as it is under the FTC Act.

Petitioners also argue that other states with "Little FTC" acts like Washington have rejected the FTC's substantiation position. Pet. at 5. However, this is irrelevant given our Legislature's directive that

Washington courts consider FTC precedent in evaluating the CPA. RCW 19.86.920. In construing the Washington CPA, this Court expressly has declined to follow positions taken by the courts of other states when construing their consumer protection laws. Hangman Ridge, 105 Wn.2d at 787-89 (Washington follows a minority view in requiring a public interest impact). Regardless, Petitioners are wrong that all other states have rejected federal substantiation concepts. Pet. at 5. Maryland, for example, has applied FTC substantiation standards. T-UP, Inc. v. Consumer Protection Div., 145 Md. App. 27, 36-39, 47-50, 801 A.2d 173 (2002). The court in Hughes v. Ester C Co., 930 F. Supp. 2d 439, 456-59 (E.D.N.Y. 2013), cited by Petitioners, primarily was concerned that the private plaintiff class did not plead facts other than lack of substantiation to support their misrepresentation allegations. That is not the case here because the State filed the action and the Court of Appeals did not conclude that the ads violate the CPA solely because Petitioners lacked prior substantiation. Slip op. at 11-12. Petitioners also cite *Gredell v. Wyeth Labs, Inc.*, 367 Ill. App. 3d, 854 N.E.2d 752 (2006), but that case is irrelevant because the underlying issue on appeal was whether the plaintiff could show he suffered damages because of defendant's lack of substantiation. Id. at 290-91 (causation and damages were necessary elements of plaintiff's case). Because the plaintiff failed to show he was damaged by the lack of substantiation, the court did not analyze whether the defendant committed a deceptive act. *Id.* at 293. *Gredell* is not relevant here because causation and damages are not at issue.

### B. Petitioners' Ad Claims Lacked Reasonable Substantiation

Petitioners also do not raise an issue of substantial public interest concerning whether their ads were supported by reasonable substantiation. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court's decision regarding the level of required substantiation was erroneous because it would require Petitioners to prove that its Superior to Coffee claim was "an established scientific fact," slip op. at 19, and that its Decaf product would last for five hours, as opposed to hours. *Id.* at 19, 22. Petitioners contend that once the Court of Appeals made these determinations, the only conclusion that could be drawn from the record is that Petitioners' claims were adequately substantiated, based on the testimony of their expert, Dr. Howard Beales, who opined that only *de minimis* substantiation is required. Pet. at 7-8.

Although it rejected the trial court's conclusion that Petitioners' claims were health claims, the Court of Appeals nevertheless agreed that the correct substantiation standard is competent and reliable scientific evidence: "As the amici correctly explained 'the competent-and-reliable standard does not envision scientific unanimity and certainly does not require, as the trial court held, that a claim be "established scientific fact."" Slip op. at 20. This is in accord with the well-established standard for

substantiating ad claims concerning the structure or function of dietary supplements, which is "competent and reliable scientific evidence." *See Sterling Drug, Inc. v. FTC*, 741 F.2d 1146, 1156-57 (9th Cir. 1984). The Court of Appeals properly held that Petitioners aired dietary supplement ads without "anyone with any science training ever assess[ing] the ad claims and the science backing up those claims." Slip op. at 21 (quoting trial court decision). And, the Court properly concluded that "asking an advertising director who lacks any scientific or medical training to conduct internet research is [not] adequate substantiation." *Id.* (quoting trial court decision).

### C. Requiring Prior Substantiation Does Not Raise Any Constitutional Concerns

Petitioners raise no legitimate constitutional questions because their unsubstantiated advertisements were deceptive and misleading and are thus not protected by the First Amendment or the Washington Constitution. Petitioners cite various cases holding that a government must justify limitations on "speech protected by the First Amendment," see Pet. at 12, 16 (citing Philadelphia Newspapers v. Hepps, 475, U.S. 767, 777 (1986); Central Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of New York, 447 U.S. 557, 563, 566 (1980)), but Petitioners did not engage in "speech protected by the First Amendment." Unsubstantiated advertisements are deceptive commercial speech, and Central Hudson holds: "[T]here can be

no constitutional objection to the suppression of commercial messages that do not accurately inform the public about lawful activity. The government may ban forms of communication more likely to deceive the public than to inform it." *Central Hudson*, 447 U.S. at 563.

### 1. Requiring substantiation does not violate the First Amendment

Federal courts have consistently held that requiring competent and reliable scientific evidence for dietary supplemental ads does not violate the First Amendment under Central Hudson's commercial speech test because unsubstantiated speech is misleading. See, e.g., POM Wonderful, 777 F.3d at 499-501 (inadequately substantiated ads are not protected speech because "the government may ban forms of communication more likely to deceive the public than to inform it") (quoting Central Hudson); Daniel Chapter One v. FTC, 405 Fed. Appx. 505, 506, 2010 WL 5109600, at \*1 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (unpublished) (rejecting argument that Central Hudson applies because "[d]eceptive commercial speech is entitled to no protection under the First Amendment and, even if it were, [the FTC order requiring competent and reliable scientific evidence] is carefully tailored to protect DCO's clientele from deception"); FTC v. Nat'l Urological Group, Inc., 645 F. Supp. 2d 1167, 1186 (N.D. Ga. 2008) (Central Hudson test not applicable to "competent and reliable scientific evidence" standard because *Central Hudson* applies only to protected speech, and is not used to determine whether or not speech is protected in the first place). The court in *FTC v. Wellness Support Network, Inc.*, No. 10-cv-04879-JCS, 2014 WL 644749, at \*10 (N.D. Cal. 2014) rejected Petitioners' same arguments:

Defendants' reliance on *Pearson* and *Central Hudson* is misplaced. Neither decision stands for the proposition that a manufacturer or seller of dietary supplements—or for that matter, any product—has a First Amendment right to make claims that are false or deceptive. Nor do these cases announce a requirement that the three-part test under *Central Hudson* should be applied to causes of action based on a defendant's allegedly false or misleading advertising. Rather, these cases address the Constitutional requirements that apply to regulations that limit or ban whole categories of speech. . . . Further, it is well-established that deceptive commercial speech is entitled to no protection under the First Amendment.

Petitioners contend that *Jay Norris, Inc. v. FTC*, 598 F.2d 1244 (2d Cir. 1979), *U.S. v. Reader's Digest Ass'n, Inc.*, 662 F.2d 955 (3d Cir. 1981), and *Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. FTC*, 676 F.2d 385 (9th Cir. 1982)—all of which uphold the constitutionality of requiring prior substantiation—are no longer good law. Pet. at 12. But they do not identify any case stating these decisions have been overruled, and the extensive case law cited above reveals that Petitioners' contention lacks merit.

## 2. The Washington Constitution does not prohibit restraints on deceptive speech

The Washington Constitution also does not protect Petitioners' deceptive advertisements. This Court has held "no greater protection is

afforded [under art. I, sec. 5] to obscenity, speech in nonpublic forums, commercial speech, and false or defamatory statements," than under the First Amendment. Bradburn v. N. Cent. Reg'l Library Dist., 168 Wn.2d 789, 800, 231 P.3d 166 (2010) (emphasis added). This Court has reached the same conclusion multiple times. See Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue, 132 Wn.2d 103, 116, 937 P.2d 154 (1997); Nat'l Fed'n of Retired Persons v. Insurance Comm'r, 120 Wn.2d 101, 119, 838 P.2d 680 (1992). Because commercial speech enjoys no greater protection under Washington's Constitution than under the First Amendment, and because the First Amendment does not protect Petitioners' deceptive commercial speech, Petitioners do not raise a legitimate constitutional question.<sup>3</sup>

Because this Court has already decided that commercial speech receives no greater protection under the Washington Constitution than under the First Amendment, interpretations of other state constitutions are irrelevant. Regardless, neither the Oregon nor the Pennsylvania constitutions (relied on by Petitioners) protect deceptive commercial speech. *See Twist Architecture and Design, Inc. v. Oregon Bd. of Architect Exam'rs*, 361 Or. 507, 522-23, 395 P.3d 574, 583 (2017) (website that could

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This Court did not "specifically recognize" that it is an "open question" whether the state constitution affords greater protection to commercial speech than the First Amendment. *See* Pet. at 14 (citing *Kitsap Cy. v. Mattress Outlet*, 153 Wn.2d 506, 511 n.1, 104 P.3d 2180 (2005)). The footnote simply acknowledges that the state constitution may afford greater constitutional protections than the U.S. Constitution.

mislead Oregon consumers was not constitutionally protected speech); Com., Bureau of Prof'l and Occupational Affairs v. State Bd. of Physical Therapy, 556 Pa. 268, 275, 728 A.2d 340, 343 (1999) ("Insofar as false or misleading commercial speech is concerned, we have followed the federal view that such speech as not constitutionally protected."). Thus, even if the Court were to follow Oregon and Pennsylvania law, as Petitioners request, the result would not change.

Petitioners also contend that *Soundgarden v. Eikenberry*, 123 Wn.2d 750, 871 P.2d 1050 (1994), prohibits prior restraints on all speech. Pet. at 9-10. To the contrary, in *Soundgarden* this Court "expressly rejected an absolute bar against prior restraints on speech which is *not* constitutionally protected." 123 Wn.2d at 765 (quotation omitted). *Soundgarden* held that a statute regulating erotic music was unconstitutionally overbroad because it restrained speech that was not obscene to adults and was thus protected speech. *Id.* at 778. *Soundgarden* did not address deceptive commercial speech, which is not constitutionally protected.

This Court's subsequent decisions in *Ino Ino* and *Bradburn*, holding that commercial speech does not receive any greater protections under article I, section 5, further undercuts Petitioners' reliance on *Soundgarden*. *See Bradburn*, 168 Wn.2d at 800; *Ino Ino*, 132 Wn.2d at 116. In *Ino Ino*, this Court specifically noted it has declined to afford the full protection of

article I, section 5 to subjects that "cling[] to the edge of protected expression." *Ino Ino*, 132 Wn.2d at 117.

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